RECEIVED

Feb 22 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

R. Scott Sprouse,
Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Court Case No. 2023-000953
Civil Case No. 2021-CP-07-00663

West Street Farms, LLC and
Mix Farms, LLC,

Appellants,

v.

City of Beaufort, Beaufort
Inn, LLC, and 303 Associates, LLC

Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

/s W. Andrew Gowder, Jr.
W. Andrew Gowder, Jr., (S.C. Bar #7895)
AUSTEN & GOWDER, LLC
Charleston, South Carolina 29405
Phone: 843/727-2229
andy@austengowder.com

October 17, 2023

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE APPELLANTS HAD FAILED TO EXHAUST THEIR ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES WHEN THE HISTORIC DISTRICT REVIEW BOARD'S CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS APPROVAL COULD NOT JURISDICTIONALLY DECIDE THE ISSUES RAISED IN THIS DECLARATORY JUDGMENT ACTION?

II. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE ISSUES IN THIS DECLARATORY JUDGMENT ACTION AND THE APPEAL OF THE HISTORIC DISTRICT REVIEW BOARD'S CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS APPROVAL WERE IDENTICAL?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Declaratory Judgment action challenging actions of the City of Beaufort as contrary to law.

The case that is on appeal before this court was commenced on April 6, 2021, by the Appellants, property owners within the City of Beaufort, who filed this declaratory judgment action challenging the City of Beaufort's issuance of permits, approvals, and Certificates of Appropriateness for three separate projects in violation of the City's zoning ordinances.

Specifically, the Amended Complaint in this action asserts that three separate projects owned by the developer Defendants Beaufort Inn, LLC, and 303 Associates, LLC, (the "Hotel Project," the "Parking Garage," and the "Apartment Project" as defined in the Amended Complaint) were allowed to proceed with permitting without the City's Zoning Board of Adjustment having first granted them Special Exceptions to these projects as required by the Beaufort Code. Special Exceptions are necessary for the permitting of any Large Footprint Building or building in the Historic District with a certain size footprint as defined in the Beaufort Code.

This declaratory judgment action requests that the court make several declaratory findings, as follows:

- a. The Hotel Project, the Parking Garage Project, and the Apartment Project as currently designed and submitted to the City, exceed 100 feet width frontage and, under the Beaufort Code,

shall comply with the Large Footprint Building standards of Beaufort Code Sec. 4.5.10. (R.pp. 1006-1007)

b. Under Sec. 4.5.10, as the Hotel Project, the Parking Garage Project and the Apartment Project are in the Historic District Overlay, both are permitted only by the granting of a Special Exception by the ZBOA.

c. Neither the Hotel Project, the Parking Garage Project, nor the Apartment Project have received a Special Exception from the ZBOA.

d. Neither the Hotel Project, the Parking Garage Project, nor the Apartment Project may proceed with any construction, alteration, or improvement on those project sites without first receiving a Special Exception for each project from the ZBOA.

e. All prior approvals by the City that were issued without the prerequisite Special Exception permitting by the ZBOA are null, void, and of no effect. (R. p. 44, line 16-p. 45, line 7)

The parties conducted and completed discovery in the Declaratory Judgment case. Days following the court's decision in denying the appeal of the HRB award, the Respondents filed a motion for summary judgment on February 14, 2022, in this case, arguing that the Court's written order denying the HRB appeal acted as collateral estoppel preventing this declaratory judgment action from proceeding. After briefing and oral argument, the court on May 9, 2022, denied the motion for summary judgment and this case proceeded to trial.

On May 11, 2023, the Court heard this matter at a bench trial. The parties stipulated a large number of exhibits which were placed in the record. The Court heard testimony and arguments of counsel.

On June 9, 2023, the Court issued an order denying the Appellants' prayers for relief ruling that the Appellants had failed to exhaust their administrative remedies because the HRB's award of a

certificate of appropriateness was on appeal and the issues in this declaratory judgment action and the issues in the appeal of the HRB's award were identical.

On June 13, the Appellants timely filed their notice of appeal of that decision.

Subsequent and separate appeal of a Historic Design Review Board certificate of appropriateness award.

The matter that the trial court named a "parallel case," barring the Appellants for decision on the merits in this declaratory judgment case was in fact a subsequently filed appeal from an architectural review board in the City of Beaufort.

On July 9, 2021, West Street Farms, LLC, and Mix Farms, LLC filed an appeal under S. C. Code Ann. Sec. 6-29-900, et al., and The Beaufort Code Sec. 9.10 of a decision of the City's architectural review board, or Historic District Review Board ("HRB"). That appeal, *West Street Farms, LLC and Mix Farms, LLC v. City of Beaufort, City of Beaufort Historic District Review Board, and The Beaufort Inn, LLC*, Case No. 2021CP0701231 (filed July 9, 2021, Beaufort County Court of Common Pleas) was a challenge to an award of a Certificate of Appropriateness by the HRB to The Beaufort Inn, LLC for the Hotel and Parking Garage projects (but not the Apartment project).

Defendant 303 Associates, LLC, a Respondent in this case, was not a party to that appeal.

Under the zoning code of the City of Beaufort, the HRB has jurisdiction throughout the Beaufort Historic District and shall review and act on any Major Certificates of Appropriateness. Beaufort Code 10.7.2. (R.p. 1018, lines 8-31). A Certificate of Appropriateness ("COA") is required for any new construction activity in the historic district, Beaufort Code 9.10.1. (R.p. 1011, lines 1-8). In deciding whether to grant a COA, "the HRB shall conduct a public meeting and consider, among other things, the historic, architectural, and aesthetic features of such structure, the nature and character of the surrounding area, the use of such structure and its importance to the city, the character and appropriateness of design, scale of buildings, arrangement, texture, materials and color of the structure in question, and the relation of such elements to similar features of structures in the

immediate surroundings. The HRB shall not ...make requirements except for the purpose of preventing developments that are not in harmony with the prevailing character of the Beaufort Historic District, or that are obviously incongruous with this character." Beaufort Code 9.10.2 (C). (R.p. 1014, lines 110).

An appeal to a decision of an architectural review board is a limited proceeding under South Carolina statute and the City of Beaufort ordinance. S.C. Code Ann. Sec. 6-29-930(A) provides that "[a]t the next term of the circuit court or in chambers upon ten days' notice to the parties, the resident presiding judge of the circuit court of the county must proceed to hear and pass upon the appeal on the certified record of the board proceedings. The findings of fact by the board or architectural review are final and conclusive on the hearing of the appeal, and the court may not take additional evidence."

As the statute requires, there was no discovery in this appeal, the certified record of the board proceedings was prepared and submitted to the circuit court, and on January 6, 2022, the circuit court heard argument from the petitioners in this appeal as well as a related appeal of the same decision by the Historic Beaufort Foundation. The appeal of the HRB decision was limited to the issues of whether the Board erred as a matter of law in issuing the Certificate of Appropriateness because (1) the Board had no legal authority to consider the applications; and (2) the Board had no factual basis in the record for approving the applications. Specifically, with regard to the first argument, that the Board had no jurisdiction to the applications, the Petitioners argued that (a) any approval that the HRB may have granted the Parking Garage under the UDO had expired by June 9, 2021, and the HRB erred in acting on this application; (b) any application that the HRB had previously granted the Hotel was granted under The Beaufort Code, not the UDO, and that approval had expired by the terms of the ordinance; and (c) neither application could proceed before the HRB without each of

these Large Footprint Buildings having first obtained a special exception from the City of Beaufort Board of Zoning Appeals.

At the hearing, the Defendants argued, as they had in their memoranda, that the appeal of the final decisions of the HRB was not timely and that the developer Defendants had a vested right to develop, precluding the Board from denying their applications for Certificates of Appropriateness. The argument that the application could not proceed before the HRB without having obtained a Special Exception was hardly mentioned, if at all, and was not the subject of evidence presented to or questions posed by the court.

At the conclusion of the argument, the circuit court denied the appeal from the bench after hearing argument only and asked the Defendants to prepare an order. Defendant's counsel did prepare that order, including fully all their arguments in their pleadings and briefs, whether the subject of argument in the hearing or not, and the court signed the order prepared by the Defendants as the Order of the court. The court entered the Order as written and prepared by the Defendants as the Order deciding the appeal on January 20, 2022.

The Court's written Order emphasized that (1) the Certificates of Appropriateness that were being appealed were based on prior decisions that had not been appealed and the time for making those appeals had passed (R.pp. 23-25); (2) that the developer applicant had vested rights in the Certificate of Appropriateness and the Board could not have denied the issuance of the certificate (R.pp. 25-26); (3) the final approval for the Hotel was supported by the record (R.pp. 27-28); (4) the Board properly issued the Parking Garage approval because it properly issued an extension of time to the applicant and that issuance was supported by the record (R.pp. 28-31).

It was only in Section III (D), on page 17 of 19 of the Order (R.p. 31), where the court additionally found that: (1) the Parking Garage project and the Hotel project were "grandfathered" and governed by the prior zoning code (UDO) that had been replaced by the current zoning code

(The Beaufort Code) and in the prior zoning ordinance, the UDO, there was no provision requiring Large Footprint Buildings to obtain a Special Exception from the ZBOA before obtaining a Certificate of Appropriateness; (2) There is no requirement for sequential ordering of applications in The Beaufort Code; and (3) The HRB and ZBOA have different functions and render different kinds of approvals. These same points were made by the City (but not by the developer Defendants) in its memo filed in opposition to the petition before the court, also as a last argument at the end of page 14 and on page 15 of its 16-page memorandum filed prior to the appeal hearing.

After the Plaintiffs' motion to reconsider was denied by order of the court on February 11, 2022, the Plaintiffs timely appealed that decision to the South Carolina Court of Appeals where that appeal is pending. (R.pp. 35-37)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"Our standard of review of a law case tried by a court sitting without a jury is to search the record for errors of law and to determine if there is any factual basis to support the findings of the trial court." *Bivens v. Watkins*, 313 S.C. 228, 230, 437 S.E.2d 132, 133 (Ct. App. 1993), citing *Snell v. Parlette*, 273 S.C. 317, 322, 256 S.E.2d 410, 412 (1979).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In this declaratory judgment action that is the subject of this appeal, the Appellants, two property owners in the historic district of Beaufort, S.C. who own real property adjacent to the two projects that are the subject of this action challenge the actions of the City of Beaufort in processing the development entitlements for the Respondents 303 Associates, LLC and the Beaufort Inn, LLC (collectively "Developer"), companies that own and seek to develop (1) 812 Port Republic Street and 212 Scott Street, identified as R120, Tax Map 4, Parcel 984, as a 77-unit hotel building, with retail/commercial space on the ground floor and the hotel on the upper floors ("Hotel Project"); and

(2) 918 Craven Street for which it has sought approval of plans for a parking garage (“Parking Garage Project”).

The Beaufort Code and Large Footprint Buildings

The Hotel Project and the Parking Garage Project are located in the Downtown Core District (T5-DC) zoning district under the Beaufort Code and must adhere to the T5-DC Development Standards as presented in Beaufort Code Sec. 2.4.1: DISTRICT DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS. Additionally, The Hotel Project and Parking Garage Project are located within the Beaufort Historic District (HD) Overlay as defined by Beaufort Code Sec. 2.7.1 and within the Preservation District as shown on the official Zoning Map of the City of Beaufort. Beaufort Code Sec. 13.3.2.

In the T5-DC transect zoning district, buildings are restricted to 100 feet of building width at the frontage. Beaufort Code Sec. 2.4.1(D)(3). Buildings that exceed 100 feet building width at frontage shall comply with the Large Footprint Building standards in Beaufort Code Sec. 4.5.10 (R,pp. 1006-1007). Beaufort Code Sec. 2.4.1(D)(3), footnote 9.

The Beaufort Code defines a Large Footprint Building as “a building that has a footprint greater than 20,000 square feet. It is a type often used by big-box, national retailers. In the T4 and T5 transect zones, they shall be integrated into the streetscape or screened with Liner Buildings (see Section 4.5.9).” Beaufort Code Sec. 4.5.10(A).

Large Footprint Buildings have various specific development requirements under Beaufort Code Sec. 4.5.10 (B)(1)-(7). One preliminary and fundamental requirement for Large Footprint Buildings is that in the Historic District, except along Boundary Street, Large Footprint Buildings “are permitted by Special Exception only.” Beaufort Code Sec. 4.5.10 (B)(5).

Special Exceptions to the Beaufort Code can only be granted by the City of Beaufort Zoning Board of Appeals (“ZBOA”) Beaufort Code Sec. 10.3.1(C)(3). (R.p. 1016).

The Hotel Project

Lauren Kelly, the City planner at the time, originally presented the Hotel Project in a July 12, 2017, Historic Design Review Board (“HRB”) meeting, approximately two weeks after the Beaufort Code was adopted. The HRB granted the Hotel Project preliminary approval at that meeting. Furthermore, the July 12, 2017, minutes quote Lauren Kelly saying, “this project (the Hotel) is being evaluated under the new Beaufort Code,” confirming that the Hotel was being considered under The Beaufort Code and not the prior zoning code, the Unified Development Ordinance (“UDO”)¹. (R.pp. 1001-1004)

Lauren Kelly originally contended the preliminary approval lasted 12 months, until July 12, 2018. Thereafter, in May 2018, at the request of the Developer, Kelly purported to extend the Hotel project preliminary approval for 24-months, with approval expiring July 12, 2019.

The next approval, however, for the Hotel was not granted until almost 27 months after preliminary approval, on October 9, 2019, when the HRB purported to issue the applicant for the Hotel a “Certificate of Appropriateness.”

Though the Hotel Project received a Certificate of Appropriateness in October 2019, Developer made additional subsequent substantial changes to the plans in February 2021. On June 9, 2021, the HRB granted the Developer’s request for “Changes after Certification.”

The Hotel Project as currently submitted has a 173-foot building width at frontage and, as such, if governed by the Beaufort Code, is a “Large Footprint Building” subject to the requirements of Sec. 4.5.10.

¹ The Beaufort Code was adopted on June 27, 2017, and replaced the UDO as of that date.

The Hotel Project, despite receiving some development approvals from the City, has not applied for or received a Special Exception by the ZBOA. When the applications for preliminary approval of the Hotel Project was presented to the HRB in 2017, neither the City staff members nor the Developer's agents presenting these plans for approval made the members of the HRB aware that these projects as planned were Large Footprint Buildings or of the requirement for Special Exception approval by the ZBOA of Large Footprint Buildings before further planning approval could be obtained. In fact, the HRB was told at the 2017 meeting when that version of the Hotel Project was presented that "no zoning issues existed."

The Parking Garage Project.

On September 20, 2017, the HRB gave preliminary approval for the Parking Garage plan with various conditions. The then-current drawings were approved as submitted and the Developer was tasked with refining the design details in order to receive final approval. According to the UDO and the Beaufort Code, such preliminary approval expired twelve months later on September 20, 2018, with a potential six-month extension if requested to March 20, 2019, i.e., 18 months after the issuing of such preliminary approval.

On June 21, 2019, David Prichard, the City planning director at the time, purported to extend a Certificate of Appropriateness for one year, though no Certificate of Appropriateness had been issued, only preliminary approval, nearly 2-years earlier. A year later, on July 1, 2020, David Prichard issued another extension to a Certificate of Appropriateness that had never been issued. On March 4, 2021, the Developer submitted for final approval. On June 9, 2021, the HRB granted final approval for new construction for the Parking Garage. Like the Hotel Project, if governed by The Beaufort Code, the Parking Garage Project is also a Large Footprint Building, having a width at the frontage of 300 feet. Like the Hotel Project, the Parking Garage Project has not applied for or received a Special Exception from the ZBOA.

These arguments pled, presented, and argued in the Declaratory Judgment action present factual and legal issues that far exceed the limited issues in the appeal of the HRB's certificate of appropriateness that decided whether the Hotel and Garage would be detrimental to the interests of the City pursuant to the standards and guidelines listed in Section 9.10.2 B of the Code. (R.p. 1013 line 29-44).

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE ISSUES IN THIS DECLARATORY JUDGMENT ACTION AND THE HRB'S CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS APPROVAL WERE IDENTICAL AND THAT THE APPELLANTS HAD FAILED TO EXHAUST THEIR ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES WHEN THE HRB'S APPROVAL DID NOT DECIDE THE ISSUES RAISED IN THIS DECLARATORY JUDGMENT ACTION.

The issues raised by the declaratory judgment action were that the City was not following its own ordinances in considering continuing applications by the applicants for the Hotel and Garage when the predecessor approvals had expired, and the parcels were not properly zoned to allow construction of buildings of this size and character in the historic district.

The issues presented to the DRB were design and aesthetic ones and the decision was only a general grant of the COA with conditions.

The Appellants did raise these legal issues to the DRB at the hearing, in order not to waive their rights under the prior-filed, pending declaratory judgment action, but those legal issues were not considered or ruled on by the DRB.

Though the Court in deciding the appeal of the DRB award did rule on certain of the legal issues raised by the Appellants in the declaratory judgment action, since those issues were not decided by the HRB and there was no ability to present evidence outside of the record of the DRB decision

to the court, the Court's appellate decision could not address the same issues raised in the declaratory judgment complaint.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE COURT'S DECISION IN THE HRB APPEAL BARRED THE COURT FROM DECIDING THIS CASE ON ITS MERITS WHERE THE ISSUES, IN THIS CASE, WERE NOT ACTIVELY LITIGATED OR DIRECTLY DETERMINED IN THE APPEAL AND WERE NOT NECESSARY FOR A DETERMINATION OF THE APPEAL.

Though the Court in this case cast its decision in terms of exhaustion of remedies and the "two-judge rule," those decisions presume as their basis that the decision of the Court in the HRB appeal and the decision it was being asked to make were equivalent. In fact, this is clear when the Court in its order characterizes this case as a "parallel case" to the architectural review appeal. This was a decisive legal error.

Rather, the court should have analyzed this case based on the legal doctrine of collateral estoppel, which the Respondents raised in their motion for summary judgment and again at the trial of this matter.

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