THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

**RECEIVED**

**Mar 04 2024**

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

**SC Court of Appeals**

R. Scott Spouse, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-000953  
Civil Case No. 2021-CP-07-00663

West Street Farms, LLC and Mix Farms, LLC, ..... Appellants,

v.

City of Beaufort, City of Beaufort Inn, LLC,  
and 303 Associates, LLC ..... Respondents.

---

FINAL JOINT BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

---

Benjamin E. Nicholson, V  
(S.C. Bar No. 10137)  
BURR & FORMAN, LLP  
Post Office Box 11390  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
803-799-9800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENTS  
THE BEAUFORT INN, LLC AND  
303 ASSOCIATES, LLC

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

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **I. THE APPELLANTS’ ARGUMENTS ON COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL ARE BARRED BECAUSE THE COURT DID NOT ADDRESS COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL IN ITS ORDER AND APPELLANTS DID NOT FILE A MOTION TO RECONSIDER TO PRESERVE THIS ARGUMENT.**

The circuit court clearly explained why it rejected Appellants’ Declaratory Judgment claims based on several reasons, but the Appellants challenge those findings in their Brief with only conclusory arguments and fail to include even a single reference to a legal authority in support of those arguments. *See, infra* at Section II. Rather, the Appellants choose to attack the circuit court’s order solely on the basis that the circuit court “should have analyzed this case based on the doctrine of collateral estoppel...” (Appellants Brief, p. 11). Appellants then proceed to cite case law applicable only to collateral estoppel for the bulk of the legal arguments in their Brief.

(Appellants Brief, pp. 11-15).<sup>12</sup> However, the circuit court nowhere in its Order discussed collateral estoppel. Appellants did not raise this issue in a SCRCRCP Rule 59(e) motion to reconsider. Appellants' failure to present the issue of collateral estoppel to the circuit court bars them from arguing this issue in this appeal.

It is axiomatic that a litigant is required to raise an issue fairly to the trial court, thereby giving the trial court an opportunity to rule on the issue. *State v. Brannon*, 388 S.C. 498, 502, 697 S.E.2d 593, 595-96 (2010); *Risher v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env't. Control*, 393 S.C. 198, 208, 712 S.E. 2d 428, 433 (2011); and *Hubbard v. Rowe*, 192 S.C. 12, 5 S.E.2d 187, 189 (1939) (requiring that the party bringing an issue before the appellate court must first bring it to the attention of the lower court for issue preservation purposes).

Certainly, Respondents argued that collateral estoppel applied in this matter before the circuit court. (R. p. 108, line 16-p. 110, line 3; R. p. 132, lines 306; R. p. 196, lines 1-23; R. p. 202, lines 17-24). Appellants argued before the circuit court that it did not. (R. p. 196, line 15-p. 199, line 2; R. p. 207, line 19-p. 208, line 20). As stated, no SCRCRCP Rule 59(e) motion was filed by Appellants. The circuit court therefore had no opportunity to consider the very point addressed by the Appellants: that the circuit court should not have exercised its discretion to deny declaratory judgment based in part on Appellants' failure to exhaust administrative remedies and should have, instead analyzed the case using collateral estoppel rubric.

"It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review." *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998). Where a party raises an issue, but

---

<sup>12</sup> Appellants by (improperly) arguing that collateral estoppel does not apply to defeat their claims apparently are anticipating Respondents' arguments that the trial court order can be sustained on that basis as an additional sustaining ground. *See infra* at Section III.

the issue is never ruled on by the trial court and the party fails to file a motion to alter or amend, the issue is not preserved. *Summersell v. S.C. Dep't of Pub. Safety*, 337 S.C. 19, 22, 522 S.E.2d 144, 145-46 (1999). Appellants failed to file a SCRPC Rule 59(e) motion before the trial court raising the issue that the trial court should have analyzed the issue using a collateral estoppel framework but did not. Even if in error, the trial court had no chance to correct any such error. Thus, the Appellants are clearly precluded from raising that issue as a basis for appeal here. *Summersell*, 522 S.E.2d at 145-46.

**II. THE APPELLANTS FAILED TO ADDRESS THE CIRCUIT COURT'S REFUSAL TO ENTER A DECLARATORY JUDGMENT OR INJUNCTION, ABANDONING THOSE ISSUES; THUS, THE JUDGMENT MUST BE AFFIRMED.**

It is fundamental that an appellate court should affirm a lower court's ruling if the appealing party does not challenge that ruling. *Biales v. Young*, 315 S.C. 166, 168, 432 S.E.2d 482, 484 (1993). It does not matter if the ruling is right or wrong, if not appealed, it nonetheless becomes the law of the case. *Carolina Chloride, Inc. v. Richland Cnty.*, 394 S.C. 154, 171, 714 S.E.2d 869, 878 (2011). Likewise, if a court's decision can be upheld on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm the decision unless the appellant appeals all grounds because, again, any unappealed grounds becomes the law of the case. *Biales*, 432 S.E.2d at 484. Further, an appellate court will not consider conclusory arguments or arguments lacking a citation to legal authority, as by failing to make a substantive argument with a legal basis in support of all issues raised in the initiating brief, the appellant abandons the appeal of the unsupported issues. *Transp. Ins. Co. & Flagstar Corp. v. S.C. Second Inj. Fund*, 389 S.C. 422, 432, 699 S.E.2d 687, 692 (2010) ("Moreover, the half-page argument made by the Fund falls far short of overcoming the substantial evidence standard of review. Hence, the Fund has abandoned this issue.").

As expounded on more thoroughly in subsections (A) through (C) below, Appellants have not presented this Court with any law or argument explaining why the holdings set forth in the circuit court's Order were incorrect, so they have waived their ability to challenge the legal basis for the Order on appeal. As noted by this Court:

Additionally, “[a]n issue is deemed abandoned and will not be considered on appeal if the argument is raised in a brief but not supported by authority.” *Bryson v. Bryson*, 378 S.C. 502, 510, 662 S.E.2d 611, 615 (Ct. App. 2008). “[S]hort, conclusory statements made without supporting authority are deemed abandoned on appeal and therefore not presented for review.” *Glasscock, Inc. v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, 691 (Ct. App. 2001). When a party provides no legal authority regarding a particular argument, the argument is abandoned and the court will not address the merits of the issue. *State v. Lindsey*, 394 S.C. 354, 363, 714 S.E.2d 554, 558 (Ct. App. 2011).

*Equivest Fin., LLC v. Ravenel*, 422 S.C. 499, 505-06, 812 S.E.2d 438, 441 (Ct. App. 2018). In particular, the failure to cite legal authority is often cited as an abandonment of an issue on appeal. *See also Palmer v. State*, 427 S.C. 36, 47, 829 S.E.2d 255, 261 (Ct. App. 2019); *Mead v. Beaufort Cnty. Assessor*, 419 S.C. 125, 139, 796 S.E.2d 165, 172-73 (Ct. App. 2016); and *Bryson v. Bryson*, 378 S.C. 502, 510, 662 S.E.2d 611, 615 (Ct. App. 2008). Therefore, Appellants have abandoned any attempted appeal of the issues decided by the Court, and this Court must affirm the judgment on this basis. *See Jinks v. Richland Cnty.*, 355 S.C. 341, 344, 585 S.E.2d 281, 283 fn.3 (2003).

The reasoning behind this abandonment rule is sound. All issues and arguments must be raised in the Initial Brief. Rule 211(b), SCACR. If Appellants are permitted to wait until the submission of their Reply Brief to substantively argue for the first time that the circuit court was wrong with respect to the articulated grounds for its Order, Respondents will have been precluded from making arguments in support of the Court's holding. Because of this, an appellant may not make new arguments in its reply brief as a method of circumventing SCACR Rule 211(b). “South Carolina law clearly states that short, conclusory statements made without supporting authority are

deemed abandoned on appeal and therefore not presented for review.” *Glasscock, Inc. v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, 691 (Ct. App. 2001).<sup>13</sup>

This Court should affirm.

A. The Refusal to Overrule Another Circuit Court Judge.

The circuit court refused declaratory relief based, in part, on the rule stated in *Charleston Cnty. Dep’t of Soc. Servs. v. Fuller*, 317 S.C. 283, 454 S.E.2d 307, 310 (1995) that one Circuit Judge cannot effectively overrule the order of another Circuit Judge.<sup>14</sup> (Order Denying Appeal, pp. 2, 4-5; R. pp. 4, 6-7,). The circuit court held that to conclude the Hotel Project and the Parking Garage Project required ZBOA approval through the granting of Special Exceptions would effectively overrule Judge Price’s order denying the HRB Appeal because he had already ruled on the identical issues and, when doing so, found Special Exceptions were not required under the applicable development ordinance – the prior UDO. In their Brief, Appellants simply ignore this basis for the circuit court’s Order and instead attack the opinion on the basis that it does not expressly address collateral estoppel. Having failed to challenge the propriety of the circuit court’s decision that it cannot overrule another circuit court judge so it must deny Appellants’ request for

---

<sup>13</sup> Appellants in the circuit court argued that Beaufort Inn was not entitled to certain extensions it received from the City of Beaufort in the permitting process and therefore was precluded from arguing that the two projects were grandfathered. (R. p. 189, line 18-p. 293, line 6). The propriety of those extensions is much of the subject matter of the HRB Appeal. Regardless, Appellants have not challenged the circuit court’s ruling based on the propriety of those extensions, and thus those issues are not before this Court. The Court will not consider a point not raised as an issue on appeal. Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR. *See Allen v. Pinnacle Healthcare Sys., LLC*, 394 S.C. 268, 277, 715 S.E.2d 362, 367 (Ct. App. 2011).

<sup>14</sup> Appellants incorrectly referred to this holding the “two judge rule.” The “two-judge rule” referred to the concurrence of a circuit court judge to the opinion of a master-in-equity. *Townes Associates, Ltd. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 221 S.E.2d 773 (1976), *abrogated by Matter of Est. of Kay*, 423 S.C. 476, 816 S.E.2d 542 (2018). This rule was rendered obsolete by the 1999 amendment to S.C. Code § 14-11-85 which prohibited the practice of appeals from masters to circuit court judges.

declaratory judgment, Appellants have abandoned the issue on appeal. *Equivest Fin., LLC*, 812 S.E.2d at 441.

This Court should affirm.

B. The Discretionary Decision to Decline Declaratory Relief.

The circuit court refused to grant declaratory relief because it felt another remedy would be more effective under the circumstances, citing *Bank of Augusta v. Satcher Motor Co., Inc.*, 249 S.C. 53, 152 S.E.2d 676 (1967). (Order, p. 4; R. p. 6). “A declaratory judgment action is not a substitute for a new trial or an appeal, nor can it operate to supersede former adjudications or proceedings already pending.” *Wessinger v. Rauch*, 288 S.C. 157, 341 S.E.2d 643, 644 (Ct. App. 1986).

Nor should such relief be granted when the remedy is invoked merely to try issues or determine the validity of defenses in pending cases. While declaratory relief will not be refused, if otherwise appropriate, merely because there is another remedy available or because of the pendency of another suit, these are factors which may be considered by the Court in determining whether its discretion should be exercised in favor of assuming jurisdiction. The wholesome purposes of declaratory acts would be aborted by its use as an instrument of procedural fencing either to secure delay or to choose a forum.

*Williams Furniture Corp. v. S. Coatings & Chem. Co.*, 216 S.C. 1, 7, 56 S.E.2d 576, 578 (1949) (citations omitted).

“The decision to grant a declaratory judgment is a matter which rests in the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be disturbed absent a clear showing of abuse.” *Hyde*, 442 S.E.2d at 583. “An abuse of discretion occurs when a court’s order is controlled by an error of law or there is no evidentiary support for the court’s factual conclusions.” *Wilson v. Dallas*, 403 S.C. 411, 425, 743 S.E.2d 746, 754 (2013).

An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based upon an error of law, such as application of the wrong legal principle; or, when based upon factual conclusions, the ruling is without evidentiary support; or, when the trial court is

vested with discretion, but the ruling reveals no discretion was exercised; or when the ruling does not fall within the range of permissible decisions applicable in a particular case, such that it may be deemed arbitrary and capricious.

*State v. Allen*, 370 S.C. 88, 94, 634 S.E.2d 653, 656 (2006).

Nowhere in their Brief do Appellants argue that the circuit court abused its discretion with respect to its decision to decline to issue a declaratory judgment because such relief cannot be used to circumvent the need to exhaust administrative remedies or to challenge the ruling of another circuit court judge on the same issue. An appeal of the offending circuit court order, here the order denying the HRB Appeal, is instead the appropriate remedy and one that the circuit court noted has been exercised by Appellants.<sup>15</sup> To the extent Appellants attempt to assert a conclusory argument challenging the circuit court's discretionary ruling in Argument Section I of their Brief, Appellants fatally omit a reference to a single supporting case or statute. Appellants have, once again, abandoned this issue on appeal.

Likewise, the circuit court denied Appellants' requests for injunctive relief and mandamus. (Price Order Denying HRB Appeal, p. 5; R. p. 7). Actions for injunctive relief and mandamus are equitable in nature. *Miller v. Borg-Warner Acceptance Corp.*, 279 S.C. 90, 92, 302 S.E.2d 340, 341 (1983). "The granting or denying of injunctive relief is also addressed to the circuit court's sound discretion. In such cases, the circuit court's exercise of discretion will not be disturbed unless clearly against the weight of the evidence or controlled by an error of law." *Taylor*, 294 S.C. at 103, 362 S.E.2d at 883 (citation omitted). Nowhere in their Brief do Appellants argue that the circuit court

---

<sup>15</sup> Regardless, there was evidence in the record to support the circuit court's conclusion. The record included citations to the pleadings and Judge Price's Order in the HRB Appeal. The record also contained extensive testimony and exhibits explaining the steps taken by Beaufort Inn over the years that supported the grandfathering of the Hotel Project and the Parking Garage Project under the UDO and/or creation of vested rights. (R. pp. 15-34, 87-210, 533-937). The circuit court had an ample basis to compare the facts in this matter to the facts in the HRB Appeal; thus, the decision has evidentiary support.

abused its discretion with respect to its decision to decline to issue an injunction or mandamus, and Appellants have not presented this Court with applicable law in support of such an argument. This issue has, therefore, been abandoned on appeal.

Appellants devote less than a half page of their Brief to these issues. (Appellant's Brief, p. 10). There is no discussion of why the circuit court abused its discretion by refusing to issue a declaratory judgment or related equitable relief, like an injunction or mandamus. Having failed to make any arguments, or present the Court with any legal authority, explaining why the circuit court abused its discretion when denying its claims, Appellants have abandoned these issues in their appeal. *Equivest Fin., LLC*, 812 S.E.2d at 441.

This Court should affirm.

C. The Failure to Exhaust Administrative Remedies.

Finally, the circuit court denied the relief sought by Appellants because they have not exhausted the administrative remedies required by the South Carolina Local Government Comprehensive Planning Enabling Act of 1994, Sections 6-29-310, *et seq.*, of the South Carolina Code of Laws 1976, as amended ("Comprehensive Planning Act"), for appeals from architectural review boards, like the HRB. (Price Order Denying HRB Appeal, pp. 3-4; R. pp. 5-6).

The doctrine of exhaustion of administrative remedies generally requires a party seeking relief from the action of an administrative agency to pursue all available remedies before seeking such relief from the courts. *See Stanton v. Town of Pawley's Island*, 309 S.C. 126, 128, 420 S.E.2d 502, 503 (1992) (holding plaintiff is generally required to exhaust administrative remedies before seeking relief from the courts, and dismissal for failure to do so is in the sound discretion of the trial judge); *see also Thomas Sand Co. v. Colonial Pipeline Co.*, 349 S.C. 402, 413, 563 S.E.2d

109, 115 (Ct. App. 2002) (stating a party is “clearly required to exhaust its administrative remedies prior to bringing suit” when challenging DHEC’s denial of permit).

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